SID J. WHITE

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA OCT 6 1983

J. B. PARKER,

Appellant,

Appeal Case No. 63, 17

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

Trial Case No. 82-354-CF (Lake County Case No. 82-912-CF-A-01)

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

On Appeal From the Circuit Court of the Nineteenth Judicial Circuit of Florida, In and For Martin County, Florida [Criminal Division].

> ROBERT G. UDELL, ESQUIRE Attorney at Law 310 Denver Avenue Stuart, Florida 33494 (305) 283-9450

Counsel for Appellant

STATEMENT OF THE CASE.

The Appellant, J. B. Parker, was arrested on May 5, 1982. A Grand Jury later returned an indictment against Parker and three other co-defendants, charging them with premeditated murder in the first degree; robbery with a firearm; and kidnapping (R. 1547). Defendant Parker's Motion for a severance of his trial from that of his co-defendants was granted (R. 1616). The Defendant then moved for a change of venue (R. 1630-1631) because of extensive pre-trial publicity, and the Motion was granted (R.1647).

The Defendant was tried before a jury in Tavares, Florida, located in Lake County, on January 3, 1983. The jury returned a verdict of guilty of murder in the first degree, kidnapping and robbery with a firearm (R. 1201-1202, R. 1692). The Court then reconvened the jury to render an advisory sentence of death or life imprisonment. At the conclusion of the proceedings, the jury published an advisory sentence imposing the death penalty (R. 1504-1506, R. 1704).

Thereafter, the Court accepted the recommendation of the jury and sentenced the Defendant to death (R. 1507, R. 1708). In addition, the Court entered consecutive ten year sentences for the robbery and kidnapping convictions (R. 1507, R. 1709-1710). The Defendant filed a timely appeal of the convictions and sentences on January 31, 1983.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS.

On the afternoon of April 26, 1982, the Defendant, J. B. Parker, met with John Earl Bush, Alfonso Cave, and Terry Wayne Johnson in Fort Pierce, Florida, for the purpose of having a few alcoholic beverages. After stopping at a couple of local bars, John Earl Bush suggested the four of them get in his car and ride to Palm Beach (R. 969). The Defendant agreed to go along and, in the meantime, had fallen asleep in Bush's car. When he awoke, they had reached Martin County at approximately 11:00 p.m. and stopped briefly at a Little General Store on North U.S. One in Stuart (R. 973). For the next several hours they rode around in Stuart which included a stop at the home of Bush's girlfriend to borrow some money.

Finally, they headed back to Fort Pierce and Bush, again, stopped at the Little General Store on North U.S. 1 where Frances Slater was working (R. 977-978). Bush and Cave went into the store, and Cave put a gun to the head of Frances Slater (R. 979). In the meantime, Bush went behind the counter and grabbed a sack (R. 980). Bush and Cave then came out of the store and put Frances Slater in the back seat of BUSH's car.

Bush drove away South on U.S. 1 before heading toward Indiantown. It was then that Bush stated he was going to kill the girl because he has already been in prison and was not going back (R. 983). The Defendant repeatedly insisted that they just let the girl go and not hurt her. When they were further down the roadway and saw no oncoming traffic coming,

Bush pulled over to the side of the road and told Cave to take the girl out of the car. Bush then got out and took Slater around the back of the car by himself (R. 986). The Defendant saw Bush stab her with a knife. The Defendant then turned his head away when he heard a gunshot fired by Bush (R. 986). Bush got back into the car and drove away.

A few days after Frances Slater was found dead, Bush made a statement to the police implicating the Defendant along with the other co-defendants. On May 5, 1982, various Fort Pierce police officers arrived at the Defendant's home and asked him to go down to the Office of the State Attorney with them. The Defendant agreed and spoke with a Detective Charles Jones of the Martin County Sheriff's Department. The Defendant was scared and told the Detective he was at home the night of April 26, 1982 (R. 994). Parker was subsequently arrested and taken to the Martin County jail where he was incarcerated.

Later on that day, Parker requested to speak with Sheriff Holt (R. 740), because he was being accused of something he did not do (R. 744). At that time, Steven Greene, then working as an intern with the Office of the Public Defender in Martin County, arrived at the Martin County Detention Center and spoke with the Defendant before he could make any statements (R. 744). The Defendant was advised of his constitutional rights before the Sheriff proceeded to tape record their conversation (R. 751). Three times during the taking of the statement, however, the Defendant indicated that he wanted to find out if his mother had obtained an attorney for him (R. 777-779). The

Sheriff and other police officers present did not stop the questioning at that time, nor did they allow the Defendant an opportunity to get in touch with his mother to see if a lawyer had been obtained for him. Additionally, the Defendant refused to sign the Waiver of Rights form which was an indication of his exercise of his right to remain silent. Furthermore, Steven Greene was not a member of the Florida Bar and the Defendant was not made aware of the fact that Mr. Greene was not an attorney. The taped statement was subsequently admitted into evidence at trial (R. 772) over the objection of the Defendant who renewed his Motion to Suppress at Trial.

During the course of the trial, the Prosecution called Georgeanne Williams, Bush's girlfriend. She testified that, while she was visiting Bush in jail, the Defendant told her that he shot Frances Slater (R. 883). She also testified she has lied to her mother about Bush serving a prison term for five years (R. 898-899). The Defendant attempted to attach the veracity of Georgeanne Williams' statement by showing that she was not telling the truth in light of the fact that she had previously lied to her own mother about Bush's prior criminal However, the Defendant was precluded by the Trial Court from cross-examining the witness as to whether she had ever been arrested for petty larceny (R. 875-876) which would show her predisposition for dishonesty and that she was not truthful in view of the fact that her mother had previously testified at a deposition that the witness never told her about her arrest.

The Prosecution also called Nealie Bell Williams and Sandra Williams, the mother and sister of Georgeanne Williams, who both testified that Georgeanne had told them the Defendant confessed to her that he had shot Frances Slater (R. 918, R. The Defendant objected to the testimony of Nealie Bell Williams and Sandra Williams on the basis that any attempt to rehabilitate Georgeanne Williams' testimony by evidence of a prior consistent statement could only be done, under the facts of this case, if the statement was made at a time prior to the existence of a fact which would indicate a biase or a motive to falsify (R. 914). The Defendant argued that Georgeanne Williams had a motive to lie and to falsify prior to the time she made this statement to her mother and sister, by virtue of placing her boyfriend, John Earl Bush, in a better light as her mother had indicated she was very upset when she found out about Bush's criminal record. The Court denied Defendant's objection and allowed the State to introduce the testimony of Georgeanne Williams alleged prior consistent statement (R. 917).

At the conclusion of the evidence, the State attempted to speculate in its closing argument as to why the Defendant requested to make a statement to Sheriff Holt. In doing so the Prosecutor made highly prejudicial remarks obviously inferring that the Defendant found out that co-defendant, Bush had told the authorities that Parker shot the girl. The Defendant then moved for a mistrial based upon the Court's prior Order to prevent the State from bringing out what any of the co-defen-

dants had indicated to the effect that Parker shot the girl (R. 26). In denying the Defendant's Motion for Mistrial the Court stated: "Why couldn't they (the jury) come up with three different conclusions, there were three of them in there? Motion denied." (R. 1155-1156).

In presenting jury instructions to the Court the Defendant requested the Court to read a jury instruction on Independent Acts of Others which was taken from a 1982 Florida Supreme Court Case (R. 942-943). The State objected to the instruction as requested and presented its own modified version to the Court (R. 999-1005). The Court denied the Defendant's jury instruction on Independent Acts of Others and approved the modified version (R. 1005).

During the penalty phase, the Defendant specifically waived all mitigating circumstances of no significant prior criminal history for the purpose of precluding the Prosecution from introducing evidence of the Defendant's prior criminal activity (R. 1205-1206). Despite the Defendant's waiver, the Court allowed the State to present evidence of the Defendant's criminal history through the improper impeachment of a witness by bringing out specific prior acts of the Defendant (R. 1280-1307).

Finally, the Court instructed the jury with regard to aggravating and mitigating circumstances. The Defendant objected to three of the five aggravating circumstances given to the jury for their consideration on the basis that there was insufficient evidence from which the jury could find the

existence of these aggravating circumstances (R. 1403-1412, R. 1427-1428).

After their deliberation, the jury delivered an eight to four advisory sentence of death for the Defendant. The Court accepted the recommendation of the jury and sentenced Parker to death (R. 1507). The Court also sentenced the Defendant to consecutive ten-year sentences for his conviction of armed robbery and kidnapping. From this conviction and sentence, Defendant, Parker, has appealed.

POINT I

WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN ALLOWING THE STATE, OVER THE DEFENDANT'S OBJECTION, TO INTRODUCE INTO EVIDENCE THE TESTIMONY OF NEALIE BELL WILLIAMS AND SANDRA WILLIAMS TO SHOW THAT STATEMENTS MADE TO THEM BY THE WITNESS GEORGE-ANNE WILLIAMS WERE CONSISTENT WITH THE TESTIMONY GIVEN BY HER AT THE TRIAL.

In Florida, the general rule is that a witness' testimony may not be corroborated by his own prior consistent statement.

Van Gallon v. State, 50 So.2nd 882 (Fla. 1951); McRae v. State,

383 So.2nd 289 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1980). The Florida Evidence Code,

however, has recognized exceptions to this rule. The exception

pertinent to this issue is provided in Section 90.801(2)(b),

Florida Statutes stating:

"(2) A statement is not hearsay if the declarant testifies at the trial or hearing and is subject to cross-examination concerning the statement and the statement is:

(b) Consistent with his testimony and is offered to rebutt and express or implied charge against him of improper influence, motive, or recent fabrication..."

Existing Florida Law is in accord with the Evidence Code as shown in Van Gallon where the Court stated:

"We recognize the rule that a witness' testimony may not be corroborated by his own prior consitent statement and the exception that such a statement may become relevant if an attempt is made to show a recent fabrication. The exception is based on the theory that, once the witness' story is undertaken, by imputation, incinuation, or direct evidence, to be assailed as a recent fabrication, the admission of an earlier consistent statement rebutts the suggestion of improper motive and the challenge of his integrity."

This Rule has been followed in <u>Sosa</u> v. <u>State</u>, 215 So.2nd 736 (Fla. 1968) and <u>Jackman</u> v. <u>State</u>, 140 So.2nd 627 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1962).

Another case in which the defense counsel objected to the introduction of a prior consistent statement is McElveen v. State, 415 So.2nd 746 (Fla. 1st DCA 1982), which explains that:

"The exception involving impeachment by bias or corruption or improper motive is only applicable where the prior consistent statement was made 'prior to the existence of a fact said to indicate biase, interest, corruption or other motive to falisfy.' Kellam v. Thomas, 287 So. 2nd 733, 734 (Fla. 4th DCA 1974)."

In the case at bar, during Defendant's cross-examination of the witness, Georgeanne Williams, defense counsel emphasized that Georgeanne Williams was the girlfriend of Co-Defendant, John Earl Bush, and that she lied to her family about Bush's prior criminal history in order to continue dating him (R. 898-899), thereby suggesting that Georgeanne Williams had an improper motive to falsify and to lie to try and put John Earl Bush in a better light involving this case. That is, before the witness, Georgeanne Williams, told her mother and sister that the Defendant, Parker, allegedly confessed to her that he shot Frances Slater, Georgeanne had a motive to lie.

Subsequently, when the State attempted to rehabilitate Georgeanne Williams' testimony by introducing evidence of her prior consistent statement made to her mother and sister, the Defendant properly objected on the grounds that you can only rehabilitate a witness who has been impeached through evidence of a prior consistent statement, if the impeachment is based upon a recent fabrication (R. 914). The record clearly establishes sufficient facts to indicate bias interest or other

motive to falsify existed <u>prior</u> to the consistent statement introduced by the State.

Therefore, the Trial Court erred in admitting evidence of a prior consistent statement made by the witness Georgeanne Williams which could foreseeably result in prejudicial harm should the jury improperly attach testimonial value to the inadmissable statement as substantive evidence tending to prove the fact in issue (i.e., in this case, whether the Defendant, Parker, confessed to the murder of Frances Slater), rather than accepting such evidence merely for the purpose of testing the credibility of the witness.

Consequently, because of the prejudicial admission of the prior consistent statement, the Defendant's conviction should be reversed and the case remanded for a new trial.

POINT II

WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN DENYING DEFENDANT'S REQUESTED JURY INSTRUCTION ON INDEPENDENT ACTS OF OTHERS.

The defense requested that the Trial Court give an instruction to the jury on independent acts (R. 942-943). The Trial Court rejected the instruction an approved a modified version (R. 1005). The requested instruction was:

Independent Acts of Others: "If you find that the kidnapping and murder of Frances Julia Slater were committed by a person or persons other than J. B. Parker, and that the kidnapping and murder were totally independent acts of someone other than J. B. Parker, and if you further find that J. B. Parker did not participate in the kidnapping and murder and it was outside the scheme or design of the robbery of Frances Julia Slater, then you should find J. B. Parker not guilty of first degree felony murder (R. 942-943)."

This Court recently held in <u>Bryant v. State</u>, 412 So.2nd 347 (Fla. 1982), that where there is any evidence introduced at trial which supports a theory of the defense, a defendant is entitled to have a jury instruction on the law applicable to this theory, if requested.

The Defendant in this trial testified that after Cave and Bush took Frances Slater out of the store and put her in Bush's car, the Defendant repeatedly told Bush not to hurt the girl and let her go (R. 983, R. 986). This testimony was also consistent with the Defendant's taped statement. The record reflects that Frances Slater was subjected to a robbery, kidnapping and murder, and there was evidence from which the jury could have concluded that the Defendant, Parker, withdrew from the criminal enterprise prior to the kidnapping and death of the victim. During his argument to the jury, Defense

Counsel made clear his position as to the theory of independent acts (R. 1176), alleging that the death of Frances Slater was not caused by any acts committed during the perpetration of the robbery but rather was caused solely by acts committed after the robbery of which the Defendant, Parker, was an unwilling participate.

In <u>Bryant</u> the Court noted that the act resulting in the victim's death must be in furtherance of the common design or unlawful act the parties set out to accomplish and stated:

"Since it is the commission of a homocide in conjunction with intent to commit the felony which supplants the requirement of premeditation for first degree murder, Fleming v. State, 374 So.2nd 954 (Fla. 1979), there must be some causal connection between the homocide and the felony. In the present case, if the jury finds that the death was not caused or materially contributed to by any acts during the perpetration of the robbery, but rather was caused solely by acts committed during the perpetration of the sexual battery, if the jury finds that Bryant was actually or constructively present during and did not participate in the perpetration of the sexual battery, and if the jury finds that the sexual battery was an independent act of another and not a part of Jackson and Bryant's common scheme or design, then it may not find Bryant guilty of first degree felony murder. This is a factual issue to be determined by the jury pursuant to proper Court instructions consistent with this opinion."

In conclusion, this Court held that, since there was evidence to support Bryant's theory of defense, the requested instructions on independent acts should have been given.

If the jury in this case believed the Defendant, they could have found him guilty of robbery of the victim, but not guilty of kidnapping and premeditated murder. Since there was evidence to support the Defendant's theory of defense, the

requested instructions should have been given. Failure to give this instruction constitutes reversible error. Bryant supra; Hunter v. State, 389 So.2nd 661 (Fla. 4th DCA 1980); Johnson v. State, 423 So.2nd 614 (Fla. 1st DCA 1982). Consequently, the conviction of kidnapping and murder in the first degree should be reversed and the cause remanded for a new trial.

POINT III

WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN DENYING THE DEFENDANT THE RIGHT TO CROSS-EXAMINE THE WITNESS, GEORGEANNE WILLIAMS, REGARDING HER ARREST FOR PETTY LARCENY FOR THE PURPOSE OF DISCREDITING HER TESTIMONY.

The State's criminal case against the Defendant was largely based upon the testimony of their witness, Georgeanne Williams. She testified that the Defendant confessed to her that he shot Frances Slater (R. 883). During cross-examination the Defendant attempted to discredit her testimony by showing she is a liar. The record shows that Georgeanne Williams admitted lying to her own mother about her boyfriend, co-defendant, John Earl Bush's, prior criminal history. However, the Defendant was precluded from asking the witness whether she had ever been arrested for petty larceny (R. 875-876) which would also show she is a liar because her mother testified at a deposition that Georgeanne never told her about her arrest.

It is a well-recognized rule that limiting the scope of cross-examination in a manner which keeps from the jury relevant and important facts bearing on the trustworthiness of crucial testimony constitutes error, especially where the cross-examination is directed to the key prosecution witness.

Stradtman v. State, 334 So.2nd 100 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1976); Kirkland v. State, 185 So.2nd 5 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1966); Coco v. State, 62 So.2nd 892 (Fla. 1953); and see also Gordon v. United States, 334 U.S. 414, 73 S.Ct. 369, 97 L. Ed. 447 (1953). In Kirkland v. State, the Appellate Court reaffirmed the rule that:

"For the purpose of discrediting a witness, a wide range of cross-examination is permitted, as a matter of right, in regard to his motives, interests, animus, as connected with the cause or with the parties thereto, upon which matters he may be contradicted by other evidence...."

The testimony of Georgeanne Williams was crucial to the State's case. She was the only witness presented by the State who allegedly heard the Defendant confess to the murder of Frances Slater. Therefore, the Defendant's right to impeach and attack the credibility of this witness was of utmost importance.

It is well-settled that all witnesses are subject to cross-examination for the purpose of discrediting them by showing bias, prejudice or interest, and this is particularly so where a key witness is being cross-examined. <u>Jones</u> v. <u>State</u>, 385 So.2nd 132 (Fla. 4th DCA 1980); <u>Hannah</u> v. <u>State</u>, 432 So.2nd 631 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1983).

The Court would not allow the Defendant to ask Georgeanne Williams if she had ever been arrested for petty larceny on the grounds that you cannot attack the credibility of a witness by bringing out a previous arrest unless the witness has been convicted of a crime punishable by death or imprisonment in excess of one year, or if the crime involved dishonesty or a false statement, Florida Statue 90.610 (R. 873-876). In objecting, the Defendant stressed the fact that the only reason he wanted to ask Georgeanne Williams about her arrest was to impeach her credibility by showing that she is a liar (R. 871-872) and not for the purpose of impeachment by evidence of (R. 874). The Defendant's attack on a prior conviction

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