IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF FLORIDA

J. B. PARKER,

Appellant,

ν.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

CASE NO. 63,177

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE FILE SID J. WHITE SID J. SID S

> JIM SMITH Attorney General Tallahassee, Florida

(mo longer en A.J. 's LYDIA M. VALENTI dc 2-21-84) Assistant Attorney General 111 Georgia Avenue, Suite 204 West Palm Beach, Florida 33401 (305) 837-5062

Counsel for Appellee

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

There is no merit to appellant's contention. The prior consistent statement was introduced to rebut the impeachment on cross-examination that Williams was lying at trial in order to save her boyfriend, Bush, from the death penalty. Further to the extent there was error it was harmless in light of the overwhelming evidence of guilt , including appellant's own admissions to law enforcement of his participation in the crimes. Consequently, this court must affirm.

Georgeanne Williams testified on direct at trial that the appellant told her that he shot the victim and Bush stabbed her. (R. 883). On cross-examination appellant attempted to impeach Williams to demonstrate: that Williams was lying at trial, that the appellant had never made the admission to her, and that her motive to falsify was to save Bush from the death penalty by implicating appellant instead.

> [DEFENSE COUNSEL]: Georgeanne, you knew that John Earl Bush was facing the death penalty, didn't you?

[WILLIAMS]: Everybody else knowed it, too, who read the paper.

[DEFENSE COUNSEL]: Okay. Is that answer "yes"?

[WILLIAMS]: Yes.

[DEFENSE COUNSEL]: And didn't you also know that if it could be proved -- or, didn't you also think, that if it could be proved that somebody else killed the girl, that John Earl Bush might not be executed, didn't you also think that?

[DEFENSE COUNSEL]: Georgeanne, would you lie to save John Earl Bush's life? (R. 902-903).

The State properly offered the prior consistent statement of Williams in response to the impeaching crossexamination under section 90.801(2)(b), <u>Florida Statutes</u> (1981) and in accordance with the caselaw on the use of prior consistent statements. <u>Van Gallon v. State</u>, 50 So.2d 882 (Fla. 1951); <u>McElveen v. State</u>, 415 So.2d 746 (Fla. 1st DCA 1982); <u>Trainer v. State</u>, 346 So.2d 1081 (Fla. 1st DCA), <u>cert</u>. <u>denied</u>, 352 So.2d 175 (Fla. 1977); <u>Kellam v. Thomas</u>, 387 So.2d 733 (Fla. 4th DCA 1974).

Contrary to the appellant's contention, the prior consistent statement was made prior to the existence of a fact said to indicate a motive to falsify. Williams' alleged motive to falsify, for impeachment purposes at trial, was the motive to falsify in order to save Bush from the death penalty-and not a motive to falsify in order for her to continue dating

Bush. The fact or facts that could indicate that Williams' motive to falsify was to save Bush from the death penalty were her trial testimony and the deposition of her taken by appellant's counsel prior to trial on October 19,1982. The deposition and the trial testimony were the only two instances in which Williams' statement concerning Parker's admission could have made a difference, if in fact it was her motive to exculpate Bush from the death sentence by inculpating the appellant, because they were the only two times in which Williams' recited the admission to persons who could have made a difference in the outcome.

The statement made to Nealie Bell Williams and Sandra Williams, Georgeanne's mother and sister respectively, was prior to the existence of either of these two situations. The statement that Williams made to them does not indicate a motive to falsify in order to save Bush from the death penalty, because neither her mother or sister could affect the outcome of the cases. Moreover, Williams' mother at that time told Georgeanne to stay out of it, to "not get involved " (R. 918). Following the advice, Williams never recited the admission by appellant to law enforcement officers (R. 884-885). She did not even recite the admission to Bush's lawyer (R. 883).

Further to the extent that the motive to falsify was the motive to falsify in order to make Bush look good with her family, the appellant's argument is still without merit. If Williams wanted to place Bush in good light, she would not have told her

mother and sister that the appellant said that he shot the victim and that Bush stabbed her. Rather, she would have told her mother and sister that the appellant said that he both shot and stabbed the victim. Indeed, Williams had no motive to falsify at all at the appellant's trial -- either to cast Bush in a favorable light, or to save him from the death penalty -- because she had already testified against Bush at his trial held before that of the appellant's.

Finally to the extent that there was error, it was harmless. <u>Teffeteller v. State</u>, _____So.2d___(Fla. 1983) [8 FLW 306, op. filed August 25, 1983, case no. 60,337]. There was overwhelming evidence of appellant's guilt, including his own admissions to participation in the murder -- as for example, his statements to law enforcement officers at the crime scence : "This is where 'they' [referring to himself and his co-defendants] took the victim out of the car " (R. 798); and his statement to Deputy Vaughn that "that's where WE put the body." (R. 848) (emphasis in the original transcript.) See also Statement of Facts herein.

In sum, the motive to falsify in order to save Bush from the death penalty was not present at the time the admission was recited by Williams to her mother and sister. Even if there were error, it was harmless. Therefore, this court must affirm.

POINT II

THE TRIAL COURT GAVE A JURY INSTRUCTION ON THE INDEPENDENT ACTS OF OTHERS.

Though this issue has been preserved for appeal (R. 1075, 1076), appellant's argument is without merit. The trial court gave the requested instruction on independent acts of others. The only difference between what was requested and what was given was the addition of the proviso that the jury could return a guilty verdict if it found that the murder was committed while appellant or an accomplice was fleeing from the robbery, a correct statement of the law. Hence, there is no error and this court must affirm.

The trial court agreed to give an instruction on independent acts of others (R. 953) and did instruct the jury as to the independent acts of others:

If you find that the kidnapping and murder was outside the scheme or design of the robbery of Frances Julia Slater, and that the kidnapping and murder did not occur as a consequence of and while J.B. Parker or an accomplice was escaping from the immediate scene of the robbery, and if you further find that the kidnapping and murder were totally independent acts of someone other than J.B. Parker; that the kidnapping and murder of Frances Julia Slater were committed by a person or persons other than J.B. Parker; and that J.B. Parker did not participate in the kidnapping and murder, then you should find J.B. Parker not guilty of first degree felony murder. (R. 1183).

Hence, the appellant's reliance on <u>Bryant v. State</u>, 412 So.2d 347 (Fla. 1982) is inapplicable, because in <u>Bryant</u> no instruction at all as to the independent acts of others was ever given. Moreover, the entire scenario in the case at bar was one where all four defendants were present at all times during the robbery, kidnapping, and murder -- unlike <u>Bryant</u> in which Bryant left; then a co-defendant thereafter sexually battered the victim causing death.

Furthermore there was no error in the modified instruction given because the only difference between it and the one requested (R. 942-943) was the addition to the requested instruction of the words,"that the kidnapping and murder did not occur as a consequence of and while J.B. Parker or an accomplice was escaping from the immediate scene of the robbery." Under the appellant's unmodified instruction which is silent as to the fleeing concept, the jury could find that the defendant or an accomplice was fleeing from the robbery and that the murder was a consequence thereof -- as for example, Bush saying in the course of the robbery. "Man. I'm going to kill this bitch. I done been to prison for six years and I ain't going back, cause this whore going to identify us" (R784)--yet be precluded from rendering a guilty verdict based on felony murder. The unmodified jury instruction requested is contrary to Florida law. FLORIDA STANDARD JURY INSTRUCTIONS IN CRIMINAL CASES, F.S. 782.04 (1) (a) Felony-Murder - First Degree 64 (1981 ed.); Campbell v. State, 227 So.2d 873

(Fla. 1969), <u>cert dismd</u>., 400 U.S. 801, 97 S. Ct. 7, 27 L. Ed.2d 33 (1970); <u>Mills v. State</u>, 407 So.2d 218 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1981) (Upholding the conviction for first degree felony murder where the killing was said to be a predictable result of the felonious transaction.).

Moreover the appellant himself takes an inconsistent position in his objection to the instruction as modified because he agreed that if the death occurred as a consequence of and while appellant or an accomplice was escaping from the immediate scene of the robbery, he could be convicted of first degree felony murder. (R. 999-1000).

To have given only the version that the appellant requested would have resulted in the giving of an incomplete and inaccurate statement of the law of the State of Florida. It would have prejudiced the State of Florida, because the instruction to the jury would have required the jury to return a not guilty verdict if they found that the appellant had not participated in the kidnapping, notwithstanding that the murder occurred as a consequence of the robbery.

In sum, the instruction given was an instruction on the independent acts of others incorporating a correct statement of the law. Therefore, this court must affirm.

POINT III

THE TRIAL COURT CORRECTLY EXCLUDED THE CROSS-EXAMINATION OF GEORGEANNE WILLIAMS CONCERN-ING AN ARREST FOR PETIT LARCENY BECAUSE IT WAS IRRELEVANT AND IMMATERIAL AND FURTHER BECAUSE IMPEACHMENT USING A PRIOR ARREST IS IMPROPER UNDER THE EVIDENCE CODE.

The appellant urges reversible error based on a sixth amendment violation; specifically, he was precluded from asking Williams whether she had a prior arrest for petit larceny in order to demonstrate that she lied to her mother, thereby impugning her credibility. This argument is without merit for several reasons: first, it concerned an immaterial, collateral matter that did not demonstrate Williams' bias or prejudice against the appellant; second, the form of the question concerning an "arrest," rather than a "conviction," is improper under the Florida Code of Evidence; third, the appellant demonstrated that Williams had lied in the past to her mother through other evidence; thus even if there were error, it was harmless. Consequently, the judgment and sentence must be affirmed.

Indeed both the United States and Florida Constitutions grant an accused the right to confront witnesses. <u>U.S. Const</u>. amend. VI; <u>Fla. Const</u>. art. 1, §16. However that right of confrontation is not a limitless right encompassing impeachment of a witness on cross-examination with collateral matter which is

immaterial and irrelevant. Stinson v. State, 76 Fla. 421, 80 So. 506 (Fla. 1981); Herndon v. State, 73 Fla. 451, 74 So. 511 (1917); Tully v. State, 69 Fla. 662, 68 So. 934 (Fla. 1915), Schwab v. Tolley, 345 So. 2d 747, 754 (Fla. 4th DCA 1977); Whitley v. State, 265 So.2d 99, 101 (Fla. 3rd DCA), cert.denied, 268 So. 2d 906 (Fla. 1972). Cf United States v. Valenzuela - Bernal, U.S. _____102 S.Ct. 3340, 73 L.Ed. 2d 1193 (1982); Washington v. Texas, 388 U.S. 14, 87 S.Ct. 1920, 18 L.Ed. 2d 1019 (1967) (In somewhat analogous cases concerning compulsory process, the United States Supreme Court in discussing the sixth amendment right to confrontation held that there is a violation only where an accused is "arbitrarily deprived of 'testimony' [that] would have been relevant and material, and . . . vital to the defense.") As the First District Court of Appeal held:

> While a wide range of crossexamination is to be permitted in discrediting a witness, a defendant has no unqualified right to insist upon the introduction of immaterial testimony solicited for the purpose of refuting or impeaching other immaterial testimony . . .

<u>Carter v. State</u>, 101 So. 2d 911, 914 (Fla. 1st DCA), <u>cert</u>. <u>denied</u>, 104 So. 2d 594 (Fla. 1958), <u>modified on other grounds</u> <u>in Faulk v. State</u>, 104 So. 2d 519 (Fla. 1958).

In the case at bar, the appellant was attempting to introduce a collateral, irrelevant issue -- specifically, whether the witness, Georgeanne Williams, was ever arrested --

for the purpose of showing that Williams did not tell her mother about it. This question on cross-examination concerning an arrest for petit larceny has no bearing on whether Williams has an interest, bias, or prejudice against the appellant, the demonstration of which is necessary before there can be an admission of such a question. <u>Davis v. Alaska</u>, 415 U.S. 308, 94 S.Ct. 1105, 39 L.Ed. 2d 347 (1974); <u>Davis v. Ivey</u>, 93 Fla. 387, 112 So. 2d 264 (1927); <u>Hannah v. State</u>, 432 So.2d 631 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1983); <u>Jones v. State</u>, 385 So.2d 132 (Fla. 4th DCA 1980). The arrest question involved a totally collateral matter. Thus the trial court was correct in frustrating what was no more than attempt to impeach a State's witness on an immaterial issue. <u>Faulkner v. State</u>, 151 So.2d 17, 18 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1983), cert. denied, 156 So. 2d 389 (Fla. 1963).

> The admission or rejection of such evidence rests in the sound discretion of the trial court who must judge the propriety thereof from what transpires upon the trial and the conduct of the witness upon the stand. And this discretion will not be interfered with unless abused.

<u>Carter</u>, 101 So. 2d at 915. Where as here reasonable persons could have taken the view of the trial judge, there was no abuse of discretion; his ruling must be affirmed. <u>Ford Motor</u> <u>Co. v. Kikes</u>, 401 So. 2d 1341 (Fla. 1981); <u>Matire v. State</u>, 232 So.2d 209, 211-212 (Fla. 4th DCA 1970).

Further, the question'Were you ever arrested for petit larceny?" (R. 871-872) is an improper question to

demonstrate to a jury a witness's lack of veracity. As this court held in Fulton v. State, 335 So.2d 280, 283 (Fla. 1976):

Arrest without more does not, in law any more than in reason, impeach the integrity or impair the credibility of a witness. It happens to the innocent as well as the guilty. Only a conviction, therefore, may be inquired about to undermine the trustworthiness of a witness.

<u>Jordan v. State</u>, 107 Fla. 333, 144 So. 669 (1932); <u>Rolle</u> <u>v. State</u>, 386 So. 2d 3 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1980). <u>See</u> Section 90.610(1), <u>Florida Statutes</u> (1981). ("A party may attack the credibility of any witness, including an accused, by evidence that the witness has been <u>convicted</u> of a crime if the crime was punishable by death or imprisonment in excess of 1 year . . . , or if the crime involved dishonesty or a false statement regardless of the punishment,").

The proper method of impeaching Williams' credibility arising out of her involvement in petit larceny, would have been to ask her whether she had been convicted of petit larceny -the subject of the State's motion in limine -- and, moreover, to show "that such crime involve[d] some element of deceit, untruthfulness, or falsification bearing upon the [witness's] capacity to testify truthfully." <u>Hall v. Oakley</u>, 409 So.2d 93, 97 (Fla. 1st DCA), <u>pet. for rev. denied</u>, 419 So.2d 1200 (Fla. 1982); <u>Rivers v. State</u>, 423 So.2d 444 (Fla. 4th DCA 1982). The appellant failed to ask the proper question

pertaining to a conviction, thus the trial court was correct in excluding the improper question concerning her arrest.

Finally, assuming for the sake of argument only without conceding, that there was error in excluding questioning about the arrest for petit larceny, it was harmless. <u>Sloan v. State</u>, 427 So. 2d 808 (Fla. 4th DCA 1983); <u>Bailey</u> <u>v. State</u>, 411 So.2d 1377 (Fla. 4th DCA 1982). The thrust of the excluded question was to demonstrate that Williams had lied in the past. Appellant elicited this through other questions which revealed that Williams had lied to her parents about her boyfriend. (R. 898). Thus, the appellant achieved his end goal. The arrest question would have merely elicited repetitive testimony.

In sum there was no abridgment of appellant's sixth amendment right to confrontation, because the question propounded was improper in form and concerned a matter collateral and irrelevant. Further, to the extent there was any error, it was harmless because through other questions on crossexamination, the appellant demonstrated that Williams had lied to her mother -- the reason for appellant's wanting to ask the excluded question about Williams' petit larceny arrest. Thus because there was no error, and even if there were it was harmless, the judgment and sentence must be affirmed.

POINT IV

THE TRIAL COURT CORRECTLY DENIED THE MOTION TO SUPPRESS AND ADMITTED INTO EVIDENCE THE TAPED STATEMENT.

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